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			Dedication

			

			This book is dedicated to: Harry Marsden, Joey Pyle Snr and Tel Currie Snr

			

			

			Introduction

			

			byMikeGray

			

			

			Since Ronnie’s return to England in 2001, myself and Tel have visited him in both HMP Belmarsh and HMP Norwich and are still doing so today. Ronnie has had a very rough ride since landing back in Blighty, serving six years in the UK’s most secure prison with the strictest security regime you can ever imagine. In this book we tell of our visits, which were sometimes unpleasant and heartbreaking, but during which we had to stay strong for Ronnie. 

			Ronnie is 79yearsold, totally wheelchair bound, has no speech, cannot write, needs assistance to go to the toilet, is fed via a tube into his stomach and has poor overall health, yet he is still imprisoned in Category C HMP Norwich. We wrote our book to make the public aware of the conditions he is living under and his current situation, which is bordering on grave. As I have always said: “Ronnie Biggs is being slowly crucified on the Home Office Cross.” The time has come, to take him down. 
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			Bestregards,MikeGray

			

			

			Introduction

			

			byTelCurrie

			

			

			Ihave mentioned before that I worry about a so-called democracy that can keep a sick old man behind bars whilst sending young men and women in their prime to the other side of the world to be killed!

			There are no morals when money is involved. As the genius Roger Waters of Pink Floyd wrote, ’It all makes perfect sense, put into dollars pounds, shillings and pence!’

			My great friend, Mike Gray, and I will not be silenced by the propaganda of the upper classes. The world needs more Mike Gray’s and Chris Cowlin’s men with balls who will not accept a medieval Britain because it’s easier to watch EastEnders and let others do it!

			Ronnie Biggs, along with Kevin Lane, Ian McAteer, Willy Gage and God knows how many more men, who are being treated like the animal in the zoo that nobody wants to see. 

			Ronnie Biggs is being treated like an animal WE HAVE SEEN IT!

			When will people wake up and realise that the police and lawmakers are NOT always right? It’s time to stop taking everything at face value and swallowing everything they want us to swallow. For all these men enough is enough!

			But don’t tut and do nothing, do something. It may be you one day; it’s not only career criminals that end up in prison you know, sometimes they’re not even criminals at all, the ‘Guildford four’ and ‘Birmingham six’ spring to mind. This is everyone’s concern. The point of prison is to reform somebody NOT destroy them. 

			How much more reformed can you get than to be robbed of your speech, unable to eat, hardly able to walk, nearly 80 years old and have suffered countless strokes? Is it possible for someone to be reformed any more than that? I don’t think so. 

			Here we will tell you what happens inside our prisons and dispel the Biggs’ myth. The ‘Britain has the best justice system in the world’ mob may not like what they read but, if it awakens one person from their flag waving dream, the book has succeeded. 

			And to Ronnie, a non violent, lovable rogue. . . . WE LOVE YOU MATE!
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			Respect,TelCurrie

			

			

			Foreword

			

			By Michael Biggs

			

			

			This book is an inside view of my father’s life in HMP Belmarsh and HMP Norwich from 2001 to the present date. 

			Mike Gray and Tel Currie are two among very few people who have firsthand knowledge of my father’s life inside Her Majesty’s Prisons. It’s a real eye opener into the harsh regime my father has had to endure for the past seven-plus years. 

			I have known Mike Gray since he first contacted my father in 1989, and we have been friends ever since. 

			Friend(noun):Aperson whom you know well and whom you like a lot, but who is usually not a member of your family. 

			The above can sum up my personal feelings for Mike Gray. 

			Once you are in the spotlight there is no shortage of hangerson who will always be there for your 15 minutes. Once those are up they disappear like there’s no tomorrow. 

			Unlike most of the idiots who come up once in a while, Mike is always there, in the background; not wanting any attention, not after money or media recognition, and with a loving family who respect and support his admiration for, and friendship with, my father. 

			Mike has become different from a friend over the years; he has become more than that, and we consider him part of the family. 

			Like all friends we have had our differences and always will – that is what friends are all about!

			When mention of this book came to me my first thought was: if anyone has the right to tell the story of his long-term friendship with Ronnie Biggs, that is surely Mike Gray!

			With all of the Biggsy family love

			

			Michael Biggs

		

	


	
		
			Chapter 1 

			To Free or Not to Free

			

			(byTelCurrie)

			

			“I always said I’ll only find out who my true friends are if I’m banged up back in England. Along with my son Michael, Tel Currie, Roy Shaw and Mike Gray are my most regular visitors. They are true friends who stand by me through thick and thin. ” - Ronnie Biggs

			

			When Roy Shaw and myself went along with our pal Mike Gray to visit Ronnie Biggs in HMP Belmarsh back in 2002, we really didn’t know what to expect. I had not met the man before he returned to England and Roy hadn’t seen him since his 70th birthday bash in Brazil in 1999. Ronnie had gone seriously downhill since then and had suffered a number of strokes. I am not a ghoulish person in that way and didn’t want to see a shell of a man just to be able to tell everyone I had met Ronnie Biggs. I know people who are like that, but thankfully I inherited a great deal of respect. 

			Ronnie was physically in a very bad way, no doubt about that, but one thing he still has that struck us all is his humour. Ronnie can no longer talk. He has a laminated chart of letters that he points to and spells out the words. The first thing he asked us using his chart was: “Did you come on the train? Ha ha. ” Ron also took great pleasure in winding Roy up by spelling out that a certain screw or con was calling him a big sissy. Roy would then get the hump asking which one had said it and Ronnie would be cracking up laughing. 

			However, behind the smiles you could sense the pain. When receiving visitors, he would stare into space during conversation. He showed us the tube that has been inserted into his stomach, which was Ronnie’s only way of being fed. His mechanics are uncoordinated, he dribbles constantly and he has extreme trouble walking. But the warmth of the man is incredible. He tries to laugh, he tries to play with the children, and he tries to spread happiness despite his difficulties. Even if Ronnie were young, fit and well, he wouldn’t strike you as dangerous or violent. A cheeky monkey or rascal yes. A dangerous, violent man no way!

			Ronnie was not a violent, dangerous man in 1963 let alone in 2008. Yet this frail, sick old man is still in maximum security HMP Norwich, all paid for by the taxpayers. Why? Do they seriously consider him an escape risk? It doesn’t take much working out why Ronnie is being treated like this. It’s obvious to me and many others that the reason is politics. Only a brave politician will let Biggsy out and I’m afraid ‘a brave politician’ is a contradiction in terms. Ronnie Biggs represents a nightmare for them. He’s a very famous man who has strong support all over the world. I don’t actually think they know what the hell to do with him. He’s not a killer; in fact the so-called Great Train Robbery was an unarmed robbery. 

			Freddie Foreman points out that the ridiculous sentences handed out to the Train Robbers was one of the biggest mistakes in the history of the British justice system: “All the chaps who worked on the pavement said, hang on a minute, if they have been given 30 years, the maximum sentence they can dish out, and they weren’t even armed, what’s the point of being unarmed? We may as well carry guns; they can’t give you a higher sentence and you have more chance of getting the prize with a gun. And if the police shoot we can shoot back. It would be stupid not to carry a shooter because they can’t give you any more than the unarmed Train Robbers got. It was a huge mistake. Nobody went out on a job without shooters after that!”

			Of course, Fred is right. The handling of the Great Train Robbery started off the whole armed robbery phenomenon of the late 60s, 70s and 80s. The media magic/curse also cast its spell on Ronnie. Ronnie Biggs is a household name; everybody has heard of ‘Ronnie Biggs the Great Train Robber’. But in truth Ronnie wasn’t really much of a train robber at all. Ronnie was a carpenter at the time and his old friend Bruce Reynolds was planning the big one. Bruce, who was one of the top blaggers in London and highly respected, had already pulled off a number of spectacular jobs. Biggsy was not in Bruce’s league or indeed in any of the others. Men like Charlie Wilson, Buster Edwards, Roger Cordrey, Tommy Wisbey and Gordon Goody were experienced at their jobs. 

			Ronnie Biggs’s one and only asset was that he knew a train driver. Unfortunately, Ronnie’s train driver had trouble operating the new type of train controls; in short, he was more of a liability than a godsend. I remember chatting to Bruce on a couple of occasions about how Biggsy got involved, and he told me that he hadn’t wanted Ronnie to go on the job:

			“There was no need for him to take that risk, no reason at all. I offered him a good cut just to introduce to me to the backup train driver. He would have been well off and never caught because he would not have physically been part of the job. But Ronnie wanted the buzz and pleaded and pleaded with me until I gave in. The rest is history. He should have listened to me. ”

			Now it’s almost impossible for the generations after the Great Train Robbery even to think that Ronnie Biggs was an extremely minor player. 

			When Ronnie’s all-important backup train driver jumped into the driver’s seat to take the role of saviour of the day and bring the train to its final resting place for the gang to unload the loot, he couldn’t move it! Instead the regular driver, Jack Mills, who had been struck over the head with a cosh, was unceremoniously forced back into the driver’s seat to manoeuvre the train the last few hundred yards to the rendezvous point, where the multi-efficient human chains were waiting to unload the sacks into the gang’s vehicles. Regarding the coshing of Jack Mills, Bruce say’s:

			“The guy who did that was not one of our regular troops. He was not one of our tight regular firm but was a friend of somebody. What happened to Jack Mills was not supposed to happen, but why Mr Mills decided to struggle and fight I don’t know. If he had accepted it wasn’t actually his own train all would have been fine. During the melee, the member of the team with little experience hit him. ”

			In a cruel way, this was a godsend for the law who paraded Mr Mills around on TV with outsized bandages on his head for the world to see. At the start of questions from reporters, Mr Mills would slur and appear disorientated, but a few seconds in he was fine until he realised his role again. In the live interview shown the very next day after the robbery Mr Mills is talking perfectly coherently. During this interview Mr Mills told how one of the robbers had wiped the blood out of eyes and tried to make him comfortable, telling him he would be all right. This man was Charlie Wilson. Obviously later on, when the police caught Charlie, this was kept out of the press as far as possible, as Charlie Wilson was considered to be a hardened, seasoned career criminal and looking after the driver was not the public portrayal they wanted of him or the others. 

			Something about that interview didn’t ring true. Jack Mills was not angry, upset or emotional in any way. The impression that seemed obvious was that Mr Mills had been spoon-fed propaganda that didn’t appear to match how he actually felt. Jack Mills also revealed that his assailant said: “If you hadn’t have grappled with me I wouldn’t have had to hit you.” Those are hardly the words of someone out of their head and desperate to inflict violence, are they?

			Don’t get me wrong, I don’t approve of what happened to Jack Mills and I’m certainly not trying to give halos to the Train Robbers, but the truth is never as simple as black and white and to untangle the truth can often be messy. 

			Jack Mills died seven years later from leukaemia and, predictably, the Train Robbery was blamed for this. I have never heard of anyone contracting leukaemia as a direct result of a bash on the head seven years earlier, and neither has anyone else I’ve ever asked. I certainly do not want to make light of the death of Jack Mills, and I have the deepest respect and sympathy for the family, but it does seem glaringly apparent that Mr Mills was used shamelessly as a propaganda tool for the authorities. It’s something we will never know, but I wonder if Mr Mills himself would have wanted an extremely sick Ronnie Biggs still to be rotting in maximum security at 79 years of age?

			Another member of the gang told me:

			“Photos of Jack Mills with his bandage round his head were used to justify our 30-year sentences. Without those images, it would have been almost impossible to sway public opinion against us and give us 30-year sentences for an unarmed robbery where all the staff on the train lay down and did nothing. Even Biggsy got 30 years. All he did was lay on the grass verge with his old train driver watching the robbery, Ronnie never even set foot on the train he was NOT a big player. ”

			Without doubt, Ronnie Biggs’s real time of notoriety came after he escaped from Wandsworth Prison in July 1965. Daring, clever or just plain daft, it certainly catapulted Ronnie Biggs into ‘Britain’s Most Wanted’. My friend Roy Shaw was sewing mailbags next to Ronnie in Wandsworth Prison in 1965 when Ron asked him if he wanted to go over the wall with him. Considering that (according to the penal system) Roy was supposed to be one of the most out-of-control, violent, antiauthority and disruptive men in the prison system, you would’ve thought he would’ve jumped at the chance, but Roy obviously saw a logic that Ronnie missed, and if you compare the lives of the two men now, it’s obvious that Roy made the right decision in not going. Ronnie eventually escaped with Eric Flowers. Indeed, Roy became a legitimate millionaire businessman and Ronnie stayed on the run for 30 years. His train money has long, long gone. 

			So Ronnie Biggs now languishes in his cell in Norwich Prison, Norfolk, in the so-called hospital (Healthcare Unit) wing. In addition to his eating, speaking and walking disabilities that have resulted from his many strokes, he also recently contracted the MRSA superbug. The list goes on. But, like it or not, Ronnie has always been a passive, warm-hearted man. There is no longer any benefit to keeping this extremely sick 79-year-old stroke victim in a high-security prison. They obviously think Biggsy is still an escape risk! Don’t forget, this man never even hurt anyone when he was supposedly active 40odd years ago, so I hardly think he’s going to start now, do you?

			A lot of good people think that Ronnie should’ve stayed in Brazil, and I agree with them. Look what he came back to: Hellmarsh (Belmarsh) hospital wing! It has been said that Biggsy was tricked, sold out for money, betrayed and lied to. All I know is, I would rather live out my days in sunny Rio than Belmarsh high-security nick. 

			On the plus side, Biggsy has some great friends and supporters not just his pals from the rascal days, such as Bruce Reynolds and Roy Shaw, but straight men like Mike Gray who is an absolute diamond. Ronnie also has overwhelming support from the general public. It’s funny that during election time’s politicians rant on about what the people want, democracy and serving the public, but when it comes to that same public speaking out about injustice it’s not the people’s business anymore and public opinion counts for nothing. Still, what do you expect?

			I would strongly urge the public to show their support for Ronnie. If you feel what’s happening is wrong please, please drop Biggsy a line at: PRISONER RONALD ARTHUR BIGGS, 002731, HEALTHCARE UNIT, KNOX ROAD, NORWICH, NORFOLK. People who are absolutely impossible to dislike are very rare, but Ronnie Biggs is one of them, together with Howard Marks, Ronnie Knight and, despite the inaccurate press he gets, Charlie Richardson. With Charlie, the image and the real man couldn’t be more different and anyone who actually knows him will tell you that. The same goes for Biggsy and Howard, who are completely lovable rogues. 

			It’s also crucial to remember that if Biggsy was the big, bad criminal he was supposed to be he would’ve got in trouble in Brazil. After all, the man once again contrary to popular belief was skint. His train money was mostly conned out of him while on the run 40 years ago. In all the years he spent in Brazil he never got in trouble with the law. A criminal with no money usually goes back to crime, but Ronnie Biggs went back to his real trade as a carpenter. Ronnie was really just a rascal, but unlike most rascals he got himself mixed up in a big robbery, a robbery in which he was totally out of his depth. In Britain, men like Freddie Foreman, The Krays, Roy Shaw, Micky McAvoy, Bruce Reynolds, John Knight, Mad Frankie Fraser and Vic Dark were all at one time or another first-class, premier league villains. Ronnie Biggs was NEVER in that class. Nevertheless, on visits to outside hospitals, the authorities still thought it crucial to handcuff him to the bed!

			So here’s a pensioner, who has had untold strokes, is wired and tubed up, can’t talk, has no money and probably didn’t know where the hell he was anyway. What did they think he was going to do? Escape? Assault hospital and prison staff? It would be funny if wasn’t so tragic. I was reading the newspaper not long ago (Monday, 12 December 2005) and one headline read: “Sick paedo freed for two day trip. No cuffs for beast on £1,000 journey”. It went on: “A sex beast believed to have targeted hundreds of kids was allowed out of Broadmoor WITHOUT handcuffs”. So before some of you (because there’s always a few) wonder why I and others have so much sympathy for Ronnie Biggs and wonder why we are disgusted that he was handcuffed to a bed whilst ill, read the above, and if you still can’t see anything wrong you have serious problems!

			Just before Christmas 2002, Ronnie was actually dragged from his bed and given a kicking by two screws. How very brave! Obviously nothing happened to them. It would seem that Ronnie Biggs is being made an example of. But anyone with an ounce of sense will tell you that making an example of Ronnie will NOT deter anyone from crime. It will do no good at all. It will not make anyone have more respect for the law and is in fact causing a backlash against the powers that be because people can see it’s inhumane and only cowards and bullies pick on easy targets to make their points!

			Biggsy was also kidnapped, with the intention of handing him over to the police, by some big sack of useless shit called John Miller in 1981. To kidnap a man and take him away from his young child with the intention of grassing him up to the police in the name of money is revolting! It is also alleged that a successful comedian put up the money to have Ronnie kidnapped, What a slag! A very well-known boxer was also said to have tried to get Ronnie recaptured by staging a fight show on a ship. The ship would then sail just into British waters and Ronnie would be arrested! It just goes to show that some public figures that people look up to are not what they seem. Funny that they never mention their brave, bold attempts to serve justice in their own memoirs. I was warned very sternly by certain officials that I couldn’t mention the comedian’s and the boxer’s (who was shit by the way) alleged involvement … Whoops, I just have!

			This guy Miller was on a television programme about Ronnie recently and he claimed that he had done Ronnie a favour because the kidnap had made him more famous and he couldn’t understand what Biggsy was complaining about! Erm, yeah! The fact that brave Miller said to Ronnie while he was tied up, “The slightest struggle and you’re done for”, makes a mockery of Miller’s claims that it was all cosy and he was actually doing Ron a favour! Miller, you’re a cowardly sack of shit and your death will be celebrated by us all! The makers of the programme calledRonnieBiggsTheLastEscapehad contacted me because they wanted Roy Shaw on the show but didn’t know how to get hold of him. I phoned Roy and he agreed to do it. On the show, Roy is filmed suited and booted in a boxing ring, and he speaks well about his days with Biggsy in Wandsworth sewing mailbags. Despite having to point out letters on a chart, Ronnie still speaks about those days and his memory is perfect. 

			Of course, there are those who maintain that Ronnie Biggs should be punished, but my response is that the unarmed robbery took place over 40 years ago, and his quality of life is so poor that just being awake is painful punishment enough for him. It’s not as though he’d be able to swan off on a world cruise and live the high life if he were released, is it? He’s a very, very ill 79-year-old man whose suffering will continue. 

			It’s also important to compare Ronnie’s circumstances with the crimes committed by others. For instance, in 1967 John McVicar escaped from Durham Prison (which was supposed to be escape proof), where he was on E wing, a special unit for the most dangerous prisoners. He pulled off another armed robbery while still on the run, shooting a guard in the leg with a shotgun in the process. He was eventually recaptured and sentenced to 26 years, but was released on parole in 1978. How can that be? Don’t get me wrong, good luck to John for getting out, but when you compare that to Ronnie Biggs who is still in HMP Norwich, something’s not right somewhere. John McVicar’s case is only one example of many that I could fill up this book with, but John is one of the more famous ones. He published his memoirs and a film entitledMcVicarwas made about him, starring Roger Daltrey. Once again, good luck to him, but he didn’t disappear into anonymity after he came out, which is what the authorities like people to do. 

			Talking of John McVicar, he does have a tendency to say nasty things about other people and forget he was in fact a villain himself. One particular comment he made that sticks in my mind happened at Ronnie Kray’s funeral. He was on the news outside St Matthew’s Church and they asked him about the funeral. John replied:”Great funeral, shame about the life. ” Now I’d say that’s pretty judgemental and self-righteous by anyone’s standards. He could have carried a lot of respect from the elite of the ‘Chaps’, but has lost it all by saying such things. It’s not necessary and it doesn’t make sense when an ex-armed robber is more critical of the underworld than anyone else. 

			Here are some more examples that highlight the injustice of Ronnie’s sentence. Recently Mehmet Ali Agca was released after a 25-year sentence for shooting Pope John Paul II. Can anyone explain how you get 25 years for blasting the Pope with a gun in a packed place and 30 for an unarmed robbery on a train full of banknotes destined to be incinerated? Okay, it’s a different country, but the fact is you can’t compare those two crimes whatever country you’re in. Then, on 2 February 2006, two scum were sentenced for robbing their frail old gran of her life savings, beating the life out of her and then strangling her. After this, they went out for a kebab to ‘celebrate’! And what sentence did they receive? Nine years! And, with parole, we’re talking about five years. Also not long ago two scum raped an 18monthold baby and got a paltry six years! They’ll probably be out in three. How can you compare that sentence to life imprisonment for non-killers like Ronnie Biggs? How is he more dangerous? Why is everyone so determined to demonise Ronnie Biggs when crimes from hell like this are going on? Please, let’s get justice into perspective. 

			If anyone thinks I’m moaning on too much about these men, please tell me if you think those sentences are perfectly in order. Convince me there’s nothing wrong in the gross sentencing inconsistencies for the most heinous of crimes. Men have always and will always rob for money from huge corporate machines, especially men born from roots where daddy can’t buy them a fart let alone a Ferrari. You can see why it happens, whether you think it’s wrong or not, but raping a baby? Surely it doesn’t get any more hellish than that? Do you have any idea what either I, or what I call ‘proper’ people, would do like to do one of those scum? Still, if we did do anything we’d get arrested and jailed for assaulting THEM!

			Nonces have no place on this earth and anyone who sympathises with them is as good as a nonce themselves. I honestly think that every self-respecting citizen should be allowed by law to attack known nonces on sight and be rewarded. The amazing thing is, I just know there’s going to be twats reading that statement and saying, “Who does he think he is? He has no right. ” Fuck off! Nonces are there to be hurt, and if you don’t have the decency to do it or ring someone that will do it, may you burn in hell!

			Some may say quite simply that a criminal is a criminal, but it doesn’t take much to work out that that’s rubbish. Ronnie Biggs is NOT the same as Ian Brady; ’Razor’ Smith is NOT the same as Ian Huntley; and Kenny Noye is NOT the same as Dennis Nielsen. Abul Hamza was found guilty of conspiracy to murder and instructing his followers to kill non-Muslims. He was also labelled Al Qaeda’s main man in Europe. And he received nine years! That means that Ronnie Biggs is considered more dangerous than men who preach hate and violence with known links to Al Qaeda! John Humble, aka the Wear-side Twat, sent hoax letters and tapes to George Oldfield during the hunt for the Yorkshire Ripper. The police diverted their hunt to the Sunderland area, only considering suspects with a northeast accent, and during that time Peter Sutcliffe killed three more innocent women. On arresting Sutcliffe, the Old Bill even queried whether he had a northeast accent. Humble thought it a laugh to divert the police while Sutcliffe slaughtered the women, but the Wearside Twat drew just eight years! Can anybody actually justify that? To me, Ronnie Biggs’s sentence is all about class. The class system is alive and well, thank you very much, and it has a long memory. 

			So what will become of Ronnie Biggs? My guess is that the authorities will not have the courage to release him. Ronnie is too popular and has too many supporters for them to do that. That lesson was learned when supporters campaigned for the release of Reg Kray. That alone should give everyone a cause for concern. It would seem that, in a so-called democracy, having support and a public consensus of “This is wrong”, with thousands of good people willing to stand up for the injustice of your case, is actually a sure fire way to ensure that you are not released. Work that one out. If nobody supported you and everyone just wanted to forget you ever existed, you would probably be okay. Men in power have always been scared of a show of popularity that is not for them. Because Ronnie is actually a charming, good man and many people like him and see him as a folk hero, this will actually work against him. Equally, if Reg Kray were not as popular with the man in the street he would probably have seen freedom years ago. Reg should have been released when his sentence was up but he wasn’t. The difference between Reg and Biggsy is that Reg did actually kill someone, whereas Ronnie didn’t, although in this bizarre system it would probably have turned out better for him if he had done. 

			It’s easy to put those who support certain people in prison in some sort of pigeonhole, label them with some sort of mental, psychological or social problem and dismiss them. The truth, as always, is different. Most supporters are intelligent and have children, and if you have children you’re simply not going to want men or women who may put them in danger on the streets, so a great deal of conviction, thought and sense of injustice goes into it. There simply cannot be a single person who knows all their facts that can possibly think Ronnie Biggs is dangerous. 

			Roy Shaw, Mike Gray and myself will be visiting Ronnie Biggs again in a couple of weeks’ time. We will pass on messages of respect from all the ‘Chaps’ like we usually do. How Ronnie responds to these messages depends on the day. I honestly fear for a society in which punishment is ruled by vindictive revenge and rehabilitation is kicked into touch with heartless passion just to show whose boss. You have to worry about a society that makes you wonder if you would have been treated less harshly if you had killed someone! Ronnie still has the will to live just. 

			Let’s just recap on the facts here. The Great Train Robbery in which Ronnie Biggs played a very minor role took place 45 years ago! Ronnie is now an extremely sick 79-year-old man. He is still in maximum security. Can anyone REALLY justify this?

			God bless you Ronnie, mate, and see you soon. Tel Currie. 

			

			

			Chapter 2

			The Curse of the Train Robbers

			

			(byTelCurrie)

			“Too many people knew about this bit of work and it was going to end in tears.” - Freddie Foreman

			

			Time has not been kind to the Great Train Robbers. In fact, like those who discovered Tutankhamun’s burial site at the start of the last century, many believe that the Great Train Robbery was cursed. I personally don’t believe this theory, because surely the chief of the Tutankhamun adventure, Howard Carter, and the mastermind behind the train robbery, Bruce Reynolds, would have been the first to suffer the horrific curse. This never happened, of course, and in fact Bruce is still very much alive I’m a pleased to say. As for Howard Carter, he died of natural causes many years later. However, what cannot be ignored is the fact that both adventures ended with many questions still unanswered.

			Out of the other Train Robbery gang members, Charlie Wilson was of course assassinated at his villa in Spain in 1990, Roy James died on the operating table during a somewhat experimental heart operation, Brian Field was killed in a car accident and Bobby Welch had serious walking difficulties for some years. Bill Boal had in fact had absolutely nothing to do with the Train Robbery but was sentenced anyway in what must be one of the greatest miscarriages of justice in British legal history, and Tommy Wisbey was sentenced along with Eddie Richardson on a cocaine charge (both Tommy and Eddie are now free). One of the three Train Robbers who got away and was never charged and who was a very close friend of Bruce Reynolds has also passed away. 

			Bruce Reynolds’s health hasn’t been great for a while now either, although I’m pleased to say I spoke to Bruce a couple of weeks ago and he’s remaining positive. We had a good chat about which people we rated and which ones we didn’t and we had a bit of a heart to heart. I have the ultimate respect for Bruce. I would say that, among the Chaps, Bruce and Charlie Richardson are the most intelligent, most highly read men I have met. There’s always a book that they insist you must read. Charlie has given me a load of books lately, including ones on evolution, science and motor racing and one calledHonour ThyFather,which is about 600 pages long. You name it and Charlie and Bruce have read it. 

			Of course, Buster Edwards’ suicide shocked everyone. What also seemed shocking was that Frankie Fraser fell out with Buster because, according to Frank, he had met Buster when he was on his way to give evidence for the prosecution in the trial of the Taylor sisters. I have to say, however, that I’ve never heard this from anyone except Frank. Charlie Wilson’s murder was also a real shocker, and there’s something about a suicide that makes everyone think that maybe, just maybe, they could’ve said or done something to prevent the tragedy. 

			In Buster’s case, what makes the matter worse is the fact that Busters despair seems to point more and more at one man’s stupidity and incompetence … that, and 30 tons of coffee granules. At this time Buster had lost some merchandise, the council was going to close his beloved flower stall outside Waterloo Station and he was skint. The sale of all that coffee was going to put him something like back on track. The coffee had to be delivered to Liverpool, but the driver tried to save money by not filling the lorry up with diesel and as a result it conked out and he just left it where it was. Buster’s lifeline had gone up in smoke. The combination of financial ruin and the possibility of going back to prison was very hard to swallow. The next day Buster hung himself in the lockup of his flower stall after drinking a bottle of vodka. It was an absolute tragedy. Buster’s tragic story also put paid to the view still held by some that the Train Robbers had millions stashed away from 1963. Nothing could be further from the truth. 

			Another major cock-up occurred in the post-robbery clearing-up process. Someone was simply supposed to go back to the farm that the gang had been using as their base and clean it up after the robbers had left, making sure that all fingerprints were removed and it was completely evidence-free. That never happened, so then it was on to Plan B – burn the place down. Guess what? That never happened either. The bloke never turned up. So there it was a great big standing clue! And Biggsy’s prints were found on a Monopoly board. 

			This guy must’ve been one of the worst villains and unluckiest men in general. His name was Tommy Marks, better known as Ginger Marks. In 1965 he was walking down Cheshire Street in Bethnal Green with his mate Jimmy Evans, when he thought somebody called him from a car. Marks bent down to see who was in the car, shots were fired and Marks was never seen again. His disappearance into thin air would later be repeated on Jack McVitie and Frank Mitchell. Marks was not a mistake he was supposed to get it as well, but Jimmy Evans was target number 1. 

			In one of life’s ironies, the guy who coshed Jack Mills and as a result got most of the others 30 years was one of the three robbers who were never caught! The length of those ridiculous sentences caused outrage among the public and some factions of the law, but the law justified it every time by bringing up the coshing of the driver. Without that, such draconian sentences could never have been dished out. So the fact that the one man that got them those sentences was never caught must have been extremely difficult to accept. However, the Train Robbers were all men of honour and at no time in the 43 years since the robbery has a single one of them revealed the names in public of those who got away or that of the man who coshed the driver. Of course, it’s all well known in certain circles, but it has never been made available for public consumption. When you consider the treachery that’s gone on with all the other major robberies since, it’s amazing that all these men have kept quiet since 1963! I don’t think that type of ‘wall of silence’ would ever happen again, especially with a job of that size. Nowadays people are falling over themselves to grass on others, So unless you have been lucky enough to have been told personally by one of the Train Robbers who was involved, you will never know, not while some are still alive anyway. 

			The man who had ordered the hit on Charlie Wilson, Roy ‘The Lump’ Adkins, was gunned down in September 1990 shot five times in the head. The other two men accused of being involved in the killing of one of the most liked Train Robbers were Danny ‘Scarface’ Roff and Billy ‘Porky’ Edwards. Roff was shot in 1996 and suffered a severe spinal injury that confined him to a wheelchair. But Roff did not escape his final punishment. As he parked up his driveway in March 1997, two masked men pulled up and shot him in the head and chest. Surely these men couldn’t have been stupid enough to think you can kill a man like Charlie Wilson and get away with it? Billy ‘Porky’ Edwards is still alive but will have to spend his life on the run. Charlie’s old pal Freddie Foreman said chillingly:”These things are never forgotten. It doesn’t matter how much time goes by, it will not be forgotten. Payback can come at any time. ” Coming from a man whose nicknames are ‘The Undertaker’ and ‘Brown Bread Fred’, that’s rather worrying. But it’s pretty obvious that this would be the case. Keep running, Porky!

			The Train Robbery also throws up the contrast in opinions between Fred and Frankie Fraser. Fred says: “I was asked to take part in the train robbery but declined. Too many people knew about this bit of work and it was going to end in tears. ” Frank, on the other hand, insists: “My two big regrets in life are, one, that I was never part of a major robbery and, two, that I never took part in the Great Train Robbery.” When you consider what happened to most of the robbers, you would have to agree with Fred. It’s a massive price to pay to be a legend. 

			As for Ronnie Biggs’s plight, was anyone to blame for tempting him back from Brazil? I’m afraid in the underworld names get thrown up just because the one saying them has a longstanding grudge with the other. If I had a pound for every time I heard the word ‘grass’ being hurled about. Of course, names have been thrown up and I have had doubts, but the fact is that Ronnie was extremely ill back then and still is today (2008). He was simply too ill to stay in Brazil and wanted to die in his homeland. He was promised a financial deal from a top newspaper that would have solved all his solvable problems. It didn’t. It got swallowed up by legal and medical bills, and Ronnie was arrested on the plane at RAF Northolt, England. 

			So the Great Train Robbery has long been and gone, and as I write (August 2008) Ronald Arthur Biggs is still here and still stuck in HMP Norwich. Norfolk. 

			

			

			Chapter 3

			It all Began in the Summer of ‘65

			

			(byMikeGray)

			

			

			Igrew up as a prison officer’s son and Wandsworth Prison in southwest London, which opened in November 1851 as The Surrey House of Correction, was my childhood neighbour. From 1878 to 1961 it was the scene of 135 hangings, mainly for the crime of murder, but also for spying during the wars and for treason. Fortunately, conditions have improved vastly since those days, although while I was a child there always seemed to be something kicking off there and this particular day was no exception. 

			It was 8 July 1965, I was nine years old, and I was playing football on the prison officers’ quarters’ football pitch with my friends, who were all prison officers’ sons. Suddenly, around 3 p.m. on this very sunny summer’s afternoon the prison siren began to sound, which signalled an attempted or successful escape. It continued for a long time, and we then saw prison officers actually coming out of their houses and others running around in a sort of frenzy. We all ran round the corner past the old-Turrett housing, which lay on each corner of the Wandsworth Prison, and as we ran the two minutes or so we could see a large crowd gathering only about 200 yards away. 

			I could see a large red furniture van parked close up to the prison wall. Prison officers were turning up in numbers, some wearing the summer white jackets and others the more familiar navy uniforms. Police cars were arriving, with the bell on the roof ringing out and the blue lights on the front grill flashing. I first thought someone must be on the floor surrounded by all these people, as me and my friends were told to keep away, move further back, go back to the playing field. These instructions became louder as a police officer started shouting through a megaphone, and the surge of people pushed us further away. 

			The red furniture van was now being inspected from every angle, and I could see police and prison officers climbing onto its roof and then onto the prison wall. Television camera crews were arriving and setting up their equipment. One of my mates then told me that our other pal had been locked in the coal shed next to his house and that his mother had seen everything that had happened and the TV people were filming her and we would all see her on TV that night. It all seemed hard to believe, but we soon discovered via our own parents and other adults that a high-profile criminal had got over the prison wall via a rope ladder, jumped into the back of the furniture van, which was covered in mattresses to break the fall, and then hopped into a waiting car, which drove off into Heathfield Road and vanished. 

			As everyone was milling around the prison wall and the red furniture van, I heard a name mentioned for the very first time, and, although it meant absolutely nothing to me at that point, it would become part of my everyday life about eight years further down the line. The name I heard was Ronald Biggs, a train robber. I didn’t even know what a train robber was, let alone anything about Ronald Biggs. Oh well, life as a nine year-old goes on. I did watch the black and white news that night and saw Mrs Williams, who claimed she’d seen everything through her prefab house kitchen window. She also confirmed that her son had been locked in the coal shed by the getaway drivers, who later on in history were identified as Paul Seabourne and his mate. 

			At Wandsworth Prison something was always happening: prisoners climbing onto the prison roof and throwing slates down; prisoners wanting to commit suicide being talked off the roof; fires breaking out, with black smoke pouring over the walls. Some prisoners once tried to jump into the back of the rubbish truck as it made its way through the main gates, and on another occasion a bulldozer was used to ram the wall of the laundry, which had a separate entrance to the prison only about 100 yards from where the red furniture van was parked, and several inmates escaped and made their way behind the row of prefab housing and down onto the railway bank, which backed onto Earlsfield Road. 

			The prison officers’ quarters were separated from the main public road by horse shoe shaped Heathfield Square, which bordered each side of the prison walls and was lined with houses. Behind the prison lay Strickland Row, comprising blocks of terraced housing, with small concrete backyards, and also the Prison Officers’ Social Club, which had a large lounge, a snooker room with two tables and a large dance hall with a hatch through to the bar. 

			‘The Club’, as it was known, looked out onto the full-sized football pitch and a sand pit. Every year the pitch was used for the prison sports day, held for officers’ children aged 10 to 14, with winners being awarded trophies, etc. The football pitch was cut and marked out by inmates, as in those days they had day duties, and they also decorated our flats and houses. Another yearly event was the bonfire, which was erected on the centre of the football pitch. It was always a massive bastard and it meant that the centre circle would completely burn and for days after the smouldering ash would prevent football matches taking place. 

			In later years the prison officers entered a local football league Morden and District, and the original name of the team was eventually changed from Wandsworth Prison Officers to Heathfield Rangers due to the number of incidents on the pitch and numerous players being sent off. This was all rather stupid I thought. I was 14 years old and, along with four of my mates (all officers’ sons), I was playing with the adults for Wandsworth Prison Officers football team. When the name was changed it obviously didn’t take long for other teams in our division to realise that we were the old Wandsworth Prison Officers team, seeing as the address we gave for our home games was Groom Crescent, just behind the prison!

			The father of one of my mates in that team got a mention in Ronnie Biggs’s first book. He was the screw who used to sit outside Ronnie’s cell when he was reviewing his 30 years in Wandsworth, and Ronnie used to say that he would fidget on his wooden chair, making it creak throughout the evening, and he would then hear the rustle of foil as he opened his sandwiches and the sound his flask being opened, as well as the usual bodily functions of burping and farting. 

			Nine Years Later …

			1974 saw me looking for vacancies in the journalistic world, as I had my heart set on being a reporter for a national newspaper. I was in the process of taking my English O level at Spencer Park Comprehensive, Wandsworth, and one part of the exam required the pupils to watchNewsatTenon the evening of Friday 2 February, take any one of the main featured stories and spend the whole weekend researching, interviewing and locating documents/photographs and anything else we could find that was related to that particular story. The completed assignment had to be presented at 9 a.m. the following Monday to the tutor, who would also have watched the news so that he could verify the subjects we had chosen. This was all part of being a potential journalist being sent to investigate a story, being as thorough as possible, and producing a well-researched article within a certain time frame. I was very much into scrapbooks and writing, so I couldn’t wait for this opportunity and, of course, the bonus of passing my English O level, which would be essential for gaining employment in this field. 

			I could hardly wait for the start of NewsatTenthat evening, and was transfixed as the newsreader, Andrew Gardner, chimed out the first story: “Great Train Robber Ronald Biggs has been rearrested in Brazil after nine years on the run”. Dong another story was announced, and then another, but I had heard that name again the one that I had first heard on 8 July 1965 Ronald Biggs. My mind was already made up. After all, I’d had personal experience of the subject already, as I’d only been 200 yards from where he had escaped in 1965. I was sure that the TV crews and press would now revisit the scene of the escape, so I would be able to gather firsthand information from actual journalists and reporters and the papers would be full of stories and photographs of Ronald Biggs. Yes, I knew that some of the other students might take this as their subject as well, but I had that all-important edge I was there. I could remember the dodgy red furniture van, my mate had been locked in the coal shed by the getaway drivers, and his mother (who still lived in the same house) had witnessed Biggs’s escape. I had everything I needed. By the end of that evening, I had already scribbled down lots of notes, recalling as many details as possible. Not surprisingly, this was followed by a restless night’s sleep as I eagerly awaited the break of dawn and the commencement of the Ronald Biggs project. 

			The following morning I bought every newspaper that made the slightest mention of Ronald Biggs from Johnson’s Newsagents in Trinity Road, opposite the County Arms pub, where I used to work between 5 and 8

			a. m. My job involved untying the bundles of papers and marking them up for the paper boys, who on Saturdays tended to come in earlier than usual as it was pay day, and then sorting the papers for the shop counters, as there were always early birds looking to buy a newspaper, even on a cold February morning such as that. I also had to bundle up the quota for Wandsworth Prison, which I loaded onto a porter’s trolley, together with any magazines ordered, and had to deliver to the prison gate by 7 a. m. Those first two hours of the morning were always very busy, especially on Sundays due to the onset of a supplements trend –The Timeswas massive enough on its own without all those! After the ‘prison run’, as we called it, I would hang on from 7 till 8 a. m. just to make sure that none of the paper boys failed to turn up for their rounds, although on pay day that was would be unusual. 

			As I read through all the newspapers, I digested every word and photograph especially the 1965 escape photos and kept saying to myself: “Was I really standing right there?” Headlines jumped out from every paper:”They’ve Got Him … Biggs Recaptured … Arrested After 9 Years on the Run”, etc. As events unfolded and negotiations were conducted on the other side of the world over the following 24 hours, the headlines kept changing, but normal weekend life continued for me. As well as my work at the newsagents I had a Saturday job, as we all did at the time, in the Woolworths store at Clapham Junction on the dog food counter, of all places! We had to wear brown coats like you see on GraceBrothers, while on the shop floor, but the pay was decent and it gave me the cash to buy the seven-inch vinyl ‘Trojan sound’ reggae records that I had loved since 1969. Clapham Junction had a good selection of shops selling this type of music, such as Slipped Disc and Reading’s in Lavender Hill or John’s record stall in Clapham Junction Market next to the Windsor Castle pub happy days. 

			Monday morning came and my tutor saved the best till last the class’s projects. As it happened, only two of the other pupils had chosen the Ronnie Biggs story as their subject, and I thought their work was a pretty poor effort if they wanted to be reporters. My project stood almost a foot high: cuttings stuck into numerous scrapbooks; notes I had written; and diagrams of the prison around which my life had revolved, having been born in Lambeth, South London, in June 1957. I received a commendation from the school head and my tutor, and I remember my tutor saying to me, “Here’s your project, Mike. Keep it going. It could make you famous one day. ”

			Famous? I thought. I don’t think so. But I took it home and kept the cuttings going, buying at least one of the main newspapers every day, especially if the front-page headlines featured Ronald Biggs. Let’s face it, from his rear-rest in February through to Michael Biggs being born in August, Ronnie was never off the front page. So the collecting continued from 1974 onwards, and by the time 1989 arrived my collection was so vast that it filled a large adult suitcase. It was then that I decided I wanted to take it one step further, my tutor’s words 15 years earlier echoing in my ears. 

			There was a London newspaper calledLoot, which was circulated in almost every city in the world, such as its success, so I decided that I would place a free ten-liner in the Rio De Janeiro edition of the BrazilianLoot-newspaper in August 1989. As we didn’t have email back then and I wasn’t prepared to give out my home phone number either, I simply said, “Ronnie Biggs press cuttings wanted. Will send your wants from UK”, followed by my address, etc. The advert was faxed to the London office, which then sent it on to the Rio branch. A few weeks passed and not a single letter arrived. Then, in early September, an airmail letter arrived from a young fellow in Rio de Janeiro who was a collector of Beatles memorabilia, and he explained that their material was very hard to find/buy in South America. He had listed several Thomas the Tank Engine cassettes that he wanted (which feature Ringo Starr, the Beatles’ drummer, as narrator) and in return he said he would send press cuttings from Rio. Having worked in Woolworths, I knew that the store sold book/cassette packs for 25 pence each. Result, I thought. So I bought four different tapes, packaged them up and off they went to Brazil via airmail. 

			After a wait of around two weeks, I thought I had been ripped off, but it had only cost me £1 and I was earning £12 at Woolies, so it wasn’t going to skint me out. However, a very familiar airmail letter dropped through my door, postmarked Brazil. I opened the letter and read the reply from ‘The Thomas collector’:

			“Mike, I cannot thank you enough for the four tapes you sent. They were out of this world. I know I am being cheeky, but I am now asking you for the other four to make up the set. But as a thank you I am not enclosing press cuttings from here in Rio about Senor Biggs, I am enclosing his home phone number and house address I look forward to receiving the other tapes. Your friend Eduardo, Rio, Brazil. ”

			I had to think over this letter for a few days. Was it a windup? But why should it be? Might it be one of Eduardo’s pals pretending to be Ronnie? No, because I have heard his TV interviews and I know the sound of his voice. After almost a week of deliberations, on 18 September 1989 I said to my wife, “I’m going to call this number,” fortunately remembering that Rio was ten hours ahead of the UK, and so I began to dial …

			“Ronnie, its Mike Gray from London.” Worrying about Ronnie’s reply was what had taken me so long to make the call. However, it became obvious that Eduardo had covered his back and had confirmed with Ronnie that I could contact him, when I heard Ronnie reply, “What took you so long?” Ronnie told me that he had known Eduardo for years and he was studying English at the university in Rio, etc., so I needn’t have worried for a week before finally taking that step to speak to the man himself. I then wrote to Ronnie in Sepetiba, a very quiet fishing village, as he wasn’t living in Santa Theresa then. That’s why the UK press found it difficult to locate him for any exclusives. 

			One of the things that Ronnie said he couldn’t get for love nor money in Brazil was the very hard liquorice that he had loved since his childhood. No one in Rio had heard of it and his UK visitors only sent or took him the soft liquorice. I had started work in Green Park by then and was able to track down an olde worlde confectionary shop in Piccadilly, central London, so I bought Ronnie loads of the stuff, wrapped it up and mailed it to him. In October 1989, a month after first contacting Ronnie, he wrote to say that the liquorice had arrived. As a gesture of thanks, Ronnie sent me photographs with his signature, messages, lyrics, you name it. Obviously I couldn’t send him cash, as it was illegal in Brazil for him to receive it, so goods became the currency. Whatever Ronnie wanted, I posted it to him. Our friendship had started and my next planned step was to meet him face to face. 

			I had told many of my friends about my contact with the UK’s most wanted man. Even though he was safe in Brazil, he was still the subject of a possible extradition order from the UK Government. In 1997, the Home Office sent a notification to the Brazilian authorities that they were no longer interested in Mr Biggs and he could stay a free man so long as he didn’t leave Brazil. But my contact with Ronnie soon brought an unexpected and worrying twist. 

			My home phone rang late one night. “Mr Gray, don’t speak just listen,” said a voice in a very matter of fact way. The background noise sounded like a club or pub. He continued, “We know your package got through to Mr Biggs and we will expect you to send more, but for us. You will not open them, just post them as normal. Do you understand? We will be in touch. ” The phone went dead. 

			Fuck me, I thought. What have I done? All this eagerness to contact the UK’s most wanted criminal has placed me in a very serious position. Why did I want to do it? Why did I go ahead with it? Couldn’t I have just have been happy collecting press cuttings? Oh my God …

			I went into the lounge and my wife, Lita, asked who was on the phone. All I could say in reply was, “What have I done?” She noticed straight away that I had turned white and was looking very worried. I just kept on repeating, “What have I done? … Why did I do it?” To a certain degree I was actually cursing Ronnie Biggs for becoming part of my everyday life. 

			Noticing how much anxiety the phone call had caused, Lita realised that she couldn’t let me suffer any longer and said to me, ”Mike, it’s a windup, the man telling you about the packages …”

			Well, I was ecstatic with relief on first hearing her words, but I then felt incredibly angry that she knew it was a windup. 

			Lita’s response was: “Let that be a lesson to you. You must be very careful about who you are contacting and why, and who you share certain information with. ”

			I now realise that these were very wise words. I found out that the person behind the windup was my brother-in-law, Brian Riordan, who worked in the legal profession. He had got a pal of his to call me from a London boozer and Lita knew all about it. It was a harsh lesson learnt, but I respect Brian and Lita for it. I love you both. 

			I continued with my weekly phone calls and letters to Ronnie throughout the 1990s, and my press cuttings were soon in danger of overflowing into a second large suitcase. Michael Biggs emailed me in 1999 to say that Ronnie had requested my company at his 70th birthday party in Rio, and I was advised to speak with Nick Reynolds about catching the same flight as him, together with his father Bruce Reynolds, Roy (Prettyboy) Shaw, Tony Hoare and Dave Courtney. Unfortunately, I had a family holiday booked for that date in August, and not finding a cheap flight to Rio via Paris and attending that function is something I will always regret. Not long after the party Ronnie had another, much more serious stroke – one that stopped him from speaking and paralysed him down one side. Such is life. 

			I still look back to 1988, when I came across (not literally!) a copy of the adult magazineMenOnly, published by Paul Raymond (aka The King of Soho). Inside was Part Two of ‘The Ronnie Biggs Interview’. Paul Raymond and his younger daughter Debbie were in Rio de Janeiro and did an exclusive interview with Ronnie. It contained some superb photographs of him and Mr Raymond, together with his attractive daughter, the most famous one being that of Ronnie on Corcovado mountain in Rio, standing in front of the Statue of Christ. Other photos included Ronnie on a moped with Debbie. 

			It was frustrating that Part Two of the interview had been published a year or so before I found it, and it was impossible to track down a back copy of the MenOnlyissue featuring Part One. However, I wrote to Mr Raymond and explained about My Biggsy collection, etc., and told him about my quest to find a back copy of that specific magazine issue, and after a few weeks I received a photocopy of the article from Debbie Raymond herself. She apologised for not being able to send out an original, but the office’s archive only contained that one original issue. I called her and thanked her so much. We had a long chat about her meeting with Ronnie in Brazil and she told me how she’d found him to be a really nice person and that she and her father had enjoyed his company over the week they were with him. In the late ‘80s and early ‘90s Paul Raymond began handing over control of his massive publishing empire to his daughter Debbie, and I was very saddened to hear that Debbie had passed away in 1992. Paul Raymond also passed away earlier this year (2008). I will always remember her and the Ronnie Biggs connection. 

			Michael told me that he and his father were setting up the Ronnie Biggs website and they wanted me to be part of their limited company, called The Biggs Experience. I was given the title of Media Researcher and Michael and Ronnie arranged for business cards to be printed to confirm the position, which detailed Ronnie’s home phone number and address. Other members of the board of directors were Nick Reynolds, Brian Running and Giovanni (Brazilian Gio, not Italian) and Jamal (Jim) Shreim. I sent Ronnie and Michael a stack of my UK press cuttings, which they used on the website as illustrations on all the pages. There was a ‘Contact Us’ section, and Ronnie actually went live on a daily basis, mailing people with answers to questions or just sending positive messages. On the first day of going live we had thousands of hits on the website, but due to the rapid deterioration of Ronnie’s health it was the end as quickly as it had been the beginning. The website needed funds and plenty of time spending on it, so as a result it was not as proactive as it was at first, and now Ronnie wanted to come home. 

			Michael called me to ask a massive favour. He wanted me to try to find an MP who might possibly represent Ronnie in the Houses of Parliament should he return to the UK. I managed to seek out Harry Cohen MP, a well-established Labour MP for the Leyton and Wanstead constituency who was active both locally and internationally, and got Michael to link up with him to see if he could and would be able to help with Ronnie’s legalities should he return to the UK. 

			It was now late April 2001, and the emails and phone calls between me and Michael were few and far between. I knew that he was not at his father’s house, as he had told me that they were hiding from the UK media due to aSunnewspaper deal, and fair play to him. Even under those circumstances, however, he still called me to keep me updated, and I feel very honoured that he did so. On the evening of 5 May he called to say:

			“It’s Mike. We (Ronnie included) are on the way to the airport, and theSunnewspaper is announcing it on the front page in the morning. I will call you when we are in the UK. Take care, love to the family man. All the best …”

			On 6 May theSunnewspaper’s front page said it all:”Biggs Back”. 

			The rest of my story is a continuing history, with regular prison visits to see Ronnie. Maybe, as a result of this book, my tutor from February 1974 will be proved right my Ronnie Biggs connection could one day make me famous.

			

			

			Chapter 4 

			Welcome to Hellmarsh

			

			(byMikeGray)

			

			

			With Ronnie’s return to high security in May 2001, the media scramble for a visit to see him was soon under way. Every Tom, Dick and Harry wanted to stake a claim for a visit, with such one-liners as: “I knew Ronnie in Rio some 17 years ago … I bought him a drink, he must remember me … We got well pissed together in Rio … Oh, the green fields of England”! And the all-time classic: “I would love a pint in a pub in Margate.” Blah … boring. Ronnie all of a sudden became the red tops’ (SunandMirror,NewsoftheWorld,People, etc.) favourite, although over the years Ronnie has always been great fodder for these papers to sell extra copies. And who says the Ronnie Biggs story is boring? It certainly is not, and it just keeps on running and running, just like the legend himself. As for the Margate line, Ronnie’s all-time favourite seaside resort was Brighton. He and the boys plus his wife Charmian would be regular visitors, as it was only 30 minutes from Ronnie’s house in Redhill to the coast. 

			Brighton and Hove was the resort where, in July 1963, Ronnie won a treble bet on the horses and collected a massive return of £500, the exact amount that he and Charmian wanted for a deposit on their house in Alpine Road, Redhill. But the seed was already sown. Ronnie had promised Bruce Reynolds that he was in on the train job and he fully intended to honour that pledge to his old friend. And the rest of the story, as they say, is history. 

			Michael Biggs was very efficient with his telephone calls and emails regarding his father. Michael was a natural at responding to enquiries about his father with very constructive, informative and, most of all, honest answers. One thing you will always get from Michael is honesty. After years of being in front of the media as well as dealing with people on a one-to-one basis, he is calm, confident and a great credit to his father. It has been said before, and it is something that I too have always maintained, that sometimes the mannerisms, the reactions, the answers, the content and his plain, ordinary attitude are one and the same as Ronnie’s. They are the same person; Michael is Ronnie and vice versa. Over the years the classic bickering between the two has always ended in a great, somewhat cynical but also humorous, line. Ronnie would say, “Son, you are only Ronnie Biggs’s son,” to which Michael would reply, “Dad, you are only the father of Michael Biggs.” In truth, the fame they share between them is more than any normal person could ever hope to achieve, even in two lifetimes. 

			Michael was now totally in control of interviews and press calls, whereas in Brazil Ronnie was still shuffling about at home and still had a certain clout. He can throw a strop as well as the next person sulk, moan, ignore. Oh yes, Biggsy senior is very good at that! However, now that he was inside HMP Belmarsh Michael was left to fend off the wolves knocking at his door, but he handled it very well. We, i.e. all the family and close friends, pledged to help in every way we could, of course, but at the end of the day the UK and world media wanted to speak to one person only, Ronnie’s nearest and dearest, the mouthpiece of the legendary Great Train Robber. 

			Ronnie had yet again become Prisoner 002731, the exact same number he was given in April 1964 when he entered HMP Wandsworth to start his draconian 30-year sentence for a robbery in which the only part he played was sitting in a jeep and watching it all take place. He never even set foot on that locomotive train the embankment was as far as the other train robbers would let him get. And after the retired engine driver brought in by Ronnie was unable to operate the train, he and Ronnie were very lucky not to have sustained serious injuries from the other robbers, as the old boy’s actions almost ruined the train robbery and stopped it dead in its tracks. 

			I called Michael a few days after Ronnie was locked back up in Belmarsh and asked him how he was doing. He replied that he was exhausted and that he was due to visit his dad on the coming Saturday, but that his visitation rights would be restricted to once a month. Michael and Ronnie had been together almost every day in Brazil, so for him now to be allowed to see him only once every month was harsh, and I wondered if the Home Office had got that wrong. We just had to wait and see. Michael told me that he had seen me on the Sky and BBC news programmes, and he complimented me on the confident way in which I had put across the strong and important message that Ronnie should not be held in the UK’s most secure prison and had queried why it had needed 20 police vehicles to meet him at Hendon Airport. Michael also said that my suit and tie made the whole Biggs family seem very intelligent, which we are. I think the press were expecting to see morons in Doc Martens and ripped T-shirts with ‘The Gonads’ on it or something! That’s just typical of the UK press, prejudging everyone, especially Ronnie’s family and friends and the supporters of the Ronnie Biggs campaign. 

			I was not used to the press and TV attention prior to Ronnie’s return. A story with photograph in the local press would’ve sufficed back then, but this time it was almost like having a Hollywood set installed on my suburban doorstep, with a Sky TV juggernaut setting up for a live interview and other lorries and vans quickly taking its place when it left. At one point, when Ronnie was in midair and scheduled to land in the UK on the Saturday morning, on the Friday night I had a BBC live 24hour news crew in my front lounge, an ITN world broadcast in my rear lounge, and the phone was ringing nonstop with calls from other media groups, such as BBC Radio London, GLR, etc. It was absolutely crazy! However, I must admit I enjoyed every single minute of it, and I did it all for Ronnie Biggs, as I am still doing today 2008. 

			On Saturday 6 May, Ronnie landed at Hendon and I was picked up in a chauffeur-driven Mercedes and driven to the BBC studios for a live interview. I actually took my father-in-law Tommy Thornton with me, who is the same age as Ronnie, as he was loving the occasion as much as I was. He had spoken to Ronnie on the phone whilst at a previous New Year’s Eve party held at our home. I had called Ronnie to wish him a happy New Year, and so Tommy had a few words with him too. The BBC interview was full of awkward questions regarding Ronnie, but I handled it with confidence and honesty. I wore a different suit and tie to the previous occasion and once again was given some strange looks over my attire on arriving at the studios. 

			As Ronnie’s first weeks slowly settled into the first month, Michael called me to discuss the visiting arrangements. It went without saying that Bruce and Nick Reynolds would be the first names on the visiting list, as they had both travelled back to the UK with Ronnie on board the Sun Newspapers private jet. I think I was somewhere around fourth in the pecking order for a visit, which wasn’t too bad was it? Also on the list was Gus Dudgeon (Elton John’s ex-manager, who sadly died in a car accident with his wife Sheila less than a year later); Giovanni, who had travelled back home after living in Brazil; and Jim (Jamal), a neighbour and very close friend of Ronnie’s. But to be told that my first visit would be around 30 May, four weeks after Ronnie’s return, and also that I would be accompanied by Michael, was great news. Michael, of course, was the first to walk through Belmarsh Prison gates for a visit a week after Ronnie returned, and by all accounts particularly his own it was like a fate worse than death. 

			Belmarsh Prison is a high-security prison in the Thamesmead area of the London borough of Greenwich, in southeast London. It opened on 2 April 1991 and is able to hold up to 915 prisoners. Between 2001 (Ronnie’s introduction to Belmarsh) and 2005, the prison was used to detain a number of people indefinitely without charge or trial under the provisions of Part 4 of the Anti-Terrorism, Crime and Security Act 2001, which led to its label as the UK version of Guantanamo Bay. However, a later ruling judged that such imprisonment was discriminatory and against the Human Rights Act. Belmarsh’s short history hasn’t passed quietly, with criticisms that health care was inadequate, access to legal advice was restricted, and conditions were cruel, inhumane and degrading. These accusations were made with particular reference to the conditions in which the terror suspects were held a situation described by David Blunkett as not ideal but necessary but they applied equally to Ronnie’s experiences during his six years there. The prison was built on part of the east site of the former Royal Arsenal Woolwich, adjacent/adjoined to Woolwich Crown Court, which was therefore used for high-profile cases (including those concerning national security). On 4 May 2007, while Ronnie was still at Belmarsh, there was a violent disturbance in the prison, and Sky News reported that at least four prison warders were injured. 

			Straight after his first visit to his father in May 2001, Michael made a statement to the press and media to quell all the speculation and scaremongering. Was Ronnie being strung up in irons? Was he being fed just bread and water? Was he only permitted to wear a loincloth? Well, these remarks were not far from the truth in a sense, seeing as the prison was supposedly the most modern and secure establishment for housing the UK’s most notorious criminals, and Prisoner 002731 was being treated like a child murderer or serial killer. After his nine hour jet flight to London from Rio de Janeiro, Ronnie was not allowed a bath or shower on his arrival at Belmarsh and did not, in fact, receive permission to do so for more than 48 hours. This was the start of a very long and sad experience for many of us who had never visited a high-security prison before. I, for one, had never set foot in a prison throughout my entire life, let alone one with as much notoriety as HMP Belmarsh,

			A very strong supporter of Ronnie’s cause, Gus Dudgeon, had known Ronnie and Michael in Rio and he was ever present at our Biggs Amnesty Campaign throughout 2000. We used to meet up at Nick Reynold’s studios, called The Tardis, in Clerkenwell, central London, which was also used for many art exhibitions. I remember one such exhibition in particular, entitled ‘Cons to Icons’, which featured celebrity gangsters such as Ronnie Biggs, Howard Marks, Bruce Reynolds, Roy ‘Prettyboy’ Shaw, Freddie Foreman, Dave Courtney and others. Nick had sculpted their faces and cast them in bronze. Nick is a very talented young artist and deserves every success he gets and he’s a really nice guy to boot. 

			The Amnesty Campaign was formed by the board of directors, i.e. me, Nick and Bruce Reynolds, Michael Biggs, Gus Dudgeon and Brian Running, with a view to presenting a scroll to the then home secretary Jack Straw, requesting amnesty on Ronnie’s behalf. We conducted meetings as far away from prying press eyes as we could over a period of about nine months, each time discussing when we should make our presentation to Mr Straw. Our unexpected last get-together was early in 2001, as only weeks later Ronnie decided he wanted to come home anyway under his own steam, and therefore the Amnesty Campaign died a very quick death after a somewhat short life. The meetings were always very interesting, however. Mick Gallagher, who used to run the Krays’ website, was an ever present, doing anything he could to help the Biggsy cause, and Gus Dudgeon yes, a multimillionaire but a really down-to-earth fella, God rest his soul always chipped in with helpful comments about how we could make the Amnesty Campaign work. Thanks for all your support, Gus. Although that particular campaign was over, I assured Ronnie after my first visit that he had lots of close friends just waiting for the chance to go and visit him. I said to him, “Bring on the Belmarsh Boys”. 

			From May 2001 to the end of that year, Ronnie was rushed from Belmarsh on a regular basis to the local Queen Elizabeth Hospital in Woolwich, with stomach ulcers, internal bleeding, suspected stroke, etc. It was almost as though the prison and Home Office couldn’t take any chances with him, and so as soon as something wasn’t right with Ron, he would be shipped out straight away. In fact on one visit that year, Michael and I turned up at the visitors’ centre and were informed in a very unsympathetic and casual manner that Ronnie was not at the prison. To our shock and horror, we were told that Ronnie had been admitted to the QE hospital 24 hours earlier, but no one had bothered to inform his son Michael. Just imagine if something fatal had happened to Ronnie and we’d known nothing about it! That was a close escape, you might assume, but it did happen again. 

			As the year drew to a close, I compiled a document which I sent to Home Secretary David Blunkett, as well as all the MPs and Home Office officials that I thought might take heed of Ronnie’s case and understand the situation as regards the hospital carry-ons. The document was called ‘Diary of a Sick Man’ and it gave full details of Ronnie’s hospital visits. In fact the Diary was used in 2003 as a mail-out with our fundraising EP’s vinyl record sleeves (more about that later) to make the public aware of Ronnie’s treatment, and it read as follows:

			

			7 May 2001 - Ronnie returns to UK suffering two strokes in Brazil.

			3 June 2001 - Rushed to QE Hospital with suspected third stroke.

			4 June 2001 - Double-cuffed to his hospital bed – I know – I WAS THERE.

			8 June 2001 - Taken back to HMP Belmarsh from QE Hospital after only five days in hospital.

			12 August 2001 - Rushed to QE Hospital - Emergency Blood Transfusion. 

			22 September 2001 - Rushed to QE Hospital - Internal bleeding and bleeding from back passage.

			2 November 2001 – Rushed to QE Hospital -passing blood and continuous vomiting.

			October 2002 – Ronnie banged up for 23 hours a day due to staff shortages in Healthcare unit. 

			October 2002 – Not allowed Association, therefore cannot get anyone to write his visiting orders for him.

			November 2002 – Ronnie diagnosed with skin cancer on his back. He is not treated for two weeks (staff shortages)

			November 2002 – Not given a bath for two weeks – again staff shortages in Healthcare Unit.

			14 January 2003 – Ronnie is assaulted by a member of the prison medical staff.

			

			I visited with Michael only days after the assault and his stomach had a terrible bruise on it caused by the attack. The story actually makes theDailyMailwith the headline of “Biggs Jail assault by Guard”. 

			I visited Ronnie with Michael in September 2001 at Queen Elizabeth Hospital, as rumour had it that he was “knocking on heaven’s door”. Michael used those very words when he called me, making me realise that this could signal Ronnie’s passing. Michael had to call the prison governor to book the hospital visit and give details of the hospital visitors. I had to take along three forms of ID, all with my photo and name on them, which were checked against the Home Office visitors list at the hospital by the two prison officers assigned to Ronnie. 

			On the day of the hospital visit, the scene around Queen Elizabeth Hospital was chaotic. The press had camped outside the building, causing havoc for all the regular hospital visitors as well as the staff. Ronnie had been allocated a single-occupancy room at the end of B Ward on the first floor, where I was directed once Reception had checked with the prison officers in situ. On arrival, the door was unlocked and I saw that Michael was already in the room with Ronnie and the two prison officers. Ronnie looked gravely ill. I had only seen him eight weeks earlier, but he looked so different now. There he was with tubes coming out of his stomach and nose, and he could barely lift his hand to shake mine. Forget the saying ‘Death warmed up’, Ronnie was ‘Death’ full stop. Michael was brushing Ronnie’s hair back, and the two officers were sat on the same side of the bed, lunch boxes and flasks on the table. We were able to stay with Ronnie for as long we wanted during the day, but no visits were allowed after 8p.m. in the evening. One part of that whole sad scene, however, shocked me more than anything else. “Double-cuffed?” I whispered to myself incredulously. I couldn’t believe it. Ronnie had been double-cuffed by his right wrist to the metal hospital bed. When I queried it, one of the prison officers admitted that it was ridiculous, but told me that they were just following orders. I still believe that, if we could’ve smuggled a photograph of this terrible situation out of that room and given it to the media, a resultant public outcry would’ve secured his immediate release to a low-security establishment. However, as we were frisked thoroughly, such a plan could never have worked. All Michael could do was cuss and make threats to let the Home Office and UK press know that his seriously ill father a 71-year-old crippled grandfather was chained to a hospital bed. Hardly the Yorkshire Ripper, was he? His criminal CV was a total joke. 

			2002 was as frantic as the end of 2001, with visitors being turned down by the dozen. What some individuals didn’t seem to realise was that the decision to accept or decline a visiting order request was not down to Michael or me, it was in Ronnie’s hands. In terms of every single visitor and visit, Ronnie only wanted to see who he wanted to see end of. So if anyone received a visiting order with their name on it, it was pretty special, as it meant that Ronnie had chosen to see them, and getting the nod from the legend to enter the doors of Belmarsh Prison was something only a certain few experienced. 

			Visitors would first have to report to the Belmarsh Visitors’ Centre and then proceed through six security checks once inside the main prison gates. The officers would check every visitor’s ID in the form of a driving licence, passport and utility bill, ensuring that the name and address were the same on each. You then had your hand stamped and your finger inserted (wait for it) into the electronic ID fingering machine (ooohhh, Matron, sounds rather rude!) While this procedure was taking place you also had your mug photographed, and then you had to place your belongings in a locker, only taking into the prison a maximum of £5 per person. No watches, gold chains, or any other items in your pockets (knives, combs, etc.) were permitted. And we hadn’t even left the Visitors’ Centre yet. 

			It’s a short walk to the main gate entrance, although you don’t pass through the main electric gates, as a smaller glass frontage allows you to pass through to a large lobby area. You then queue to enter a small chamber that accommodates about four adults. Once inside, an electric door closes behind you, leaving the rest of the visitors waiting on the other side in the foyer. You then have to insert your finger into a machine again (I’ve never done so much fingering in a prison!) and the mug-shot taken earlier appears after about a minute on a VDU screen. Finally, you hold up your stamped hand and a bright yellow HMP coat of arms is illuminated. These procedures have to be carried out by each of the occupants before another glass door opens electronically to allow everyone to vacate the chamber ready for the next four visitors. 

			You then find yourself in a search area, where you have to remove your shoes (socks without holes are recommended for visits) and belts and put them in a plastic tray, along with any money, etc. (just as you would if you were heading for the Costa del Crime in Spain and were going through Customs at Gatwick Airport). One by one you are called forward to step through the X-ray facility and into the arms of an awaiting prison officer, who does a manual body search, including your mouth (and don’t forget to wiggle that tongue). An X-ray wand is then guided around your body frame just in case the X-ray machine had failed to detect something. Then you can collect your belongings again (better check the money’s all there, just in case). You then wait have to wait until the group of security-checked visitors numbers around 12 before another electric steel door opens. As you pass through to the next chamber you see some very large ‘Beware of sniffer dogs’ warning posters, and again the door slowly grinds shut behind you before another in front of you opens and you are greeted with a very refreshing whiff of fresh air and flowers. 

			You are now outside and take a one-minute stroll along a gravel pathway to the inner prison. On the right, through the mesh fence, you can see the chapel where Ronnie got married. This leads to another door into a small chamber, which only holds about six adults. The heavy door has to be manually slammed shut and each person goes through the fingering and yellow tattoo routine again. At this point your pass is also checked against the visitor number information displayed on the PC, which has been sent through from the bookings clerk at the Visitors’ Centre. It’s all very clever but very time consuming, and by the time you sit down with your loved one you’ve lost quite a bit of your two-hour visiting time. I’ve always believed that it’s all part of the Home Office game, where time is on their side very interesting if you just stop and think about that one …

			Before releasing you from the final chamber, the officer writes a number on your visiting order. The last time I was in Belmarsh it was no. 27. The chamber leads into the waiting hall, a small reception area with toilets and about 40 seats, where you wait until your number is called out. You have to stand in lines of five, spaced two yards behind each other and with your arms down by your sides. The lines are flanked by prison officers, who then instruct the dog handler to let the dog sniff each person in your row, back and front. If, after it has circled you, the dog sits down in front of you, you are removed from the queue and taken to the Inspection Room. If you are caught with anything you shouldn’t have, then it’s adios to that day’s visit, and in some cases the Old Bill will be called in. If nothing is found but the dog senses you’re going into overdrive, then you will get a closed visit (i.e. through a glass screen). So if you enjoy a spliff in the comfort of your own home before leaving for Belmarsh or have even had one the night before, then don’t wear the same jeans or jacket for the visit, as the little blighters do pick up on the scent. Just be careful. 

			When you have successfully passed the sniffer test, you can proceed to the glass exit door yes, I know it sounds boring but, Christ, you should do the visit, it’s even worse. Then it’s put your hand under the infrared and place your finger in the hole again, before passing your visiting order to one of the three reception/booking officers, who will check you off on their lists and brusquely point you in the right direction to meet your loved one. They’ve got to know me over the years, but there’s never any mention of the name Ronnie or Mr Biggs or just plain Biggs, it’s always just “He”. 

			Then you are finally in the visiting hall, equipped with a row of four tables with chairs, all bolted to the floor, located near to the door the inmates use. Three prison officers sit on a raised platform so that they can keep a watchful eye on everyone, and above is a balcony that is also used for surveillance purposes on visits. The Belmarsh visiting hall also has a crèche for the kids and a snack bar run by the League of Friends. 

			I visited Ronnie three times in HMP Belmarsh (May, July and November) and four times in Queen Elizabeth Hospital throughout 2001. If you were nonfamily you could only visit every other month at Belmarsh, whereas family members could visit every two weeks initially and this was increased to every week after a year or so. As I mentioned earlier, I joined Michael for my first HMP Belmarsh visit, and it certainly was one to remember. I thought I would show Ronnie respect by dressing in my suit and tie, but this turned out to be a big, big mistake. My tie was confiscated by the search officer and when I entered the visiting hall Ronnie’s face on seeing my attire was a picture he couldn’t stop smiling. I looked around the other 62 visitors and there wasn’t a suit to be seen a shell suit or two maybe, but not a quality suit. Ronnie found it very amusing for the full two hours, but worse was to follow …

			Ronnie was finding it difficult to spell out words on his A4 laminated sheet, which he still uses today although it was renewed about three years ago, so Michael said, “Dad, write it on the sheet of paper. ” Ronnie tried to do this, but what he wrote was just a squiggle due to the two strokes he’d suffered. In an attempt to decipher his writing, I took the pencil off Ronnie and tried to copy the letters Ronnie had scribbled. ”Hold it!” came a shout from the officers’ platform. Then a prison officer approached the three of us, took the pencil from my hand and also removed the sheet of A4 paper. Michael and I just looked at him in shock. “You’re not passing on messages,” was the officer’s response. Even Ronnie looked at us as if to say “Prat”. Michael approached the platform in the hall, and requested a very simple explanation. He was told that I was a reporter and they thought I was quizzing Ronnie for a story and he was writing the answers down for me. It seemed totally absurd and pathetic. All Ronnie had to do was point to the AZ sheet if I wanted any questions answering. But why did they think I was a reporter?

			On leaving the visiting hall, a Senior Officer (SO) pulled me aside, which was rather embarrassing in front of all the other exiting visitors. I was informed that they (the prison officers) had assumed I was a reporter because when I had booked into the Visitors’ Centre I showed them my employers’ pass, which had my photo on in together with my name, home address and signature. At that time I worked in advertising for a publishing company, but the Belmarsh Brains had taken my ID to mean I was a reporter as they had seen the word ‘publishing’!

			The ‘Reporter Saga’ has since become a regular talking point during my visits to Ronnie in HMP Norwich, as Ronnie never fails to mention it. It goes without saying that something that has not become a regular feature of my subsequent visits to HMP Belmarsh and Norwich is a suit I have never worn one on visits since!

			I visited Ronnie on 28 November in Belmarsh with Michael, having been informed by Michael that Ronnie had been diagnosed with skin cancer on his back. We discovered that he hadn’t received any treatment or seen a skin specialist for a week since the condition had been identified by the healthcare doctor at the prison. Ronnie also said that he had not been allowed a bath for over a week due to staff shortages in the Healthcare Unit. He was told by a senior medical officer, whom he referred to as ‘the Dragon’, that no care assistants were available to bathe him and so he would have to do strip wash himself in his cell. Fortunately, his cell had hot water and the radiators were warm, whereas other cellmates weren’t so lucky. However, I was appalled that a 73-yearold man who had suffered three strokes and was struggling to walk had been expected to wash himself in this way. After the visit, I telephoned these details through to Mick Gallagher, who ran the Kray twins’ website, and he duly posted my findings. As I said to Mick, “It’s a fucking liberty and outrageous treatment. ” I was very grateful to Mick for his support. 

			Another website that featured Ronnie’s plight was Roy (Prettyboy) Shaw’s, run by Tel Currie. In 2002 I received an email from Tel Currie, who was very well connected to almost every single underworld character you could mention. Tel had been running the Roy (Prettyboy) Shaw website as well as organising his own boxing tournaments and promotions (Warriors, etc.). I had been in email contact with Tel for many years and he had always shown great and loyal support for Ronnie and Michael Biggs and my attempts to raise awareness of the Biggs cause, whether it be Michael or more importantly Ronnie. Tel used to promote our Biggsy stories on Roy’s website, which gave us excellent publicity and kept people informed of Ronnie’s up-to-the-minute condition, etc. In his email, Tel said that he and Roy Shaw wanted to visit “the old rascal” their words, not mine so I immediately wrote to Ronnie about it. Ronnie hadn’t seen his old mate Roy since August 1999, when he had flown to Rio de Janeiro to join Ronnie at his villa for his 70th birthday celebrations, which were actually video-recorded and were later released as a short film calledFather’sDay, produced and directed by Max Carlish the very man who only a year or so ago tracked down Pete Docherty for a fly-on-the-wall documentary and it all ended up before the break. 

			Max had flown to Rio with Bruce Reynolds, Nick Reynolds, Tony Hoare, Dave Courtney and Roy Shaw for Ronnie’s birthday bash on 8 August (the same date as the Great Train Robbery), as he was planning to shoot a fly-on-the-wall documentary and also conduct exclusive interviews with these underworld legends. The film is very interesting and also very amusing, as it shows lots of behind-the-scenes footage of Ronnie’s party and the camera angles used are superb. At the party, Ronnie’s closest old pal Johnny Pickston tells the camera that Ronnie only has 32 glasses and over a hundred people were expected at the part. It shows Ronnie blowing out his candles, with Bruce and Roy in policemen’s helmets, and German Frank in the background wondering what the fucking hell was going on! The film also shows Bruce walking around the tiny but picturesque streets of Santa Theresa, a short tram ride away from the vast city of Rio de Janeiro, and also Ronnie on the beach with Bruce Reynolds in his shorts together with Nick and Dave Courtney. Dave was flashing his gold necklaces and sporting his infamous cigar and was attracting the attention of the local Brazilian beauties superb projection shots. 

			The camera follows the birthday party through to the next day and features a lot of ‘unsung heroes’: Giovanni, who was instrumental in helping set up our website and also followed Ronnie back to the UK from Brazil, bringing his young family with him; Jim (Jamal), a really lovely guy, ever present around Ronnie and Michael, and a good-looking bastard as well; and Brian Running, a real man’s man who always seemed to echo my thoughts exactly at the Amnesty Campaign meetings where’s the beer and is it a free bar?! All these characters are in the background of the film, but Ronnie knew then, as he does today, who is on his side; who has shown support throughout the long, tedious battle. Ronnie’s memory is still razor sharp and he will never forget them just wait until his eventual release. 

			The film features classic music tracks, and Max later told me that the songs were Ronnie’s favourites. I had heard Ronnie talk about one of his favourites back in the 1990s a beautiful song called ‘The Flower Duet’ by Delibes from the Opera Lakmé, composed in 1883. The song is incredibly powerful and relates so well to the Carlish images of Ronnie at the time of his 70th birthday. Another of the tracks, playing in the film when Ronnie, Bruce Reynolds and Dave Courtney are walking along the Brazilian beach front, is ’Can’t Take My Eyes Off of You’ by Andy Williams. The next song on the soundtrack, although only released in 1978, was also one of Ronnie’s all-time favourites Sid Vicious (Sex Pistols) singing ‘My Way’. Ronnie has always loved the punk sound and he loved the way this record starts slow and traditional and then suddenly bursts into life with the sound getting louder and more robust. He loved the Frank Sinatra original too, but was totally besotted with Sid’s version. Max’s film was promoted in the UK and Germany but was not a prolific seller, and has over the years become a very rare and collectable Ronnie Biggs item. 

			I found out later on that everyone at that party was absolutely petrified of Roy (Prettyboy) Shaw. Born in East London in 1936, Roy was initially a professional middleweight boxer, winning ten fights out of ten with six knockouts, but the pickings were better in the armed robbery game. In 1963 Roy was sentenced to 18 years’ imprisonment for what was a record-breaking haul in an armed robbery on a security van, The judges must have thought that was the end of him but they were so wrong. Roy exploded in prison. Attacks on prison officers and fights with other inmates with reputations were everyday occurrences and the system simply could not handle him. He saw the screws as the enemy and he was at war with them. They would tussle with Roy with their batons and shields over and over again, but it just made him more angry and more determined to win his war with them. Roy was totally out of control and uncontrollable. He was simply too violent for the system and therefore they shipped him off to Broadmoor Hospital for the criminally insane, where the ‘liquid cosh’ was waiting for him. Although now looking through a constant drug haze and sometimes barely able to stand due to the strength of the medication, he continued his war with the authorities and threw punches at the prison officers. Roy was kept in the dungeons or ‘the hellhole’ as they were referred to in Broadmoor Hospital. His days were spent locked away in solitary in total darkness, drugged up to the eyeballs and receiving electric shock treatment. 

			The turning point for Roy Shaw came when his old pal Joey Pyle visited him and told him straight the trouble that he was in, and that he would die in Broadmoor if he carried on his one-man war with the prison authorities. Fortunately, as people tend to do when Joe Pyle speaks to them, Roy listened to what he said and took it on board. From then on, he was on a different mission to win his freedom. He settled down as best he could and was eventually released. Roy then faced a totally different problem: how was he going to earn money on the outside?

			Roy (Prettyboy) Shaw became Britain’s first unlicensed fighter and remains to this day the sport’s most famous name. All Roy’s fights were as legendary as his name soon became, beating other big names such as Lenny McLean, Ron (the Butcher) Stander, Donny (the Bull) Adams, etc. All the money Roy earned in these fights he wisely invested in property, and as a result he is doing very well even today (2008). Roy Shaw is the number one attraction at the boxing shows these days, but remains grounded and unfazed by the ‘gangster-celebrity’ craze. It’s amazing when you consider that Roy was once Britain’s most dangerous prisoner with little hope of release, and yet he turned his life around and is now a millionaire businessman driving a Bentley. I am sure you will agree that Roy Shaw is a man to be admired. No less than 35 respected faces have submitted tributes about Roy to his website to date, names that include Reggie and Ronnie Kray, Charlie Richardson, Joey Pyle Snr, Joey Pyle Jnr, Freddie Foreman, Howard Marks, Mad Frankie Fraser, Eric Mason, Charles Bronson, Stilks, Carlton Leach, Gypsy Johnny Frankham, Jimmy Stockin, Dave Courtney, Bruce Reynolds and, of course, Sir Ronnie Biggs says it all, doesn’t it?

			Throughout 2001 and into 2002, I was supporting Michael Biggs where and whenever I could, and on Thursday 28 March 2002 Michael went to the Royal Courts of Justice, The Strand, London, together with his legal team, to lodge an application for a judicial review of the recent decision of the Criminal Cases Review Commission (CCRC) to refuse the application for Ronnie’s case to go to the Court of Appeal. 

			It would be an understatement to say that it was an honour in early 2002 to meet Tel Currie and Roy Shaw in Belmarsh Visitors’ Centre. I had noticed earlier a bright red Bentley Convertible approaching the visitors’ car park, but hadn’t realised that the Bentley, surrounded by all the Ford Mondeos, Vauxhalls and Nissans, actually belonged to Roy Shaw and was being driven by Tel Currie. 

			As we were all going through the usual security checks, I will always remember Roy telling me over and over that there was no way they were going to allow him through to see Ronnie. Believe me, he was getting very nervous about that fact, and I reassured him that everything would be fine. After all, I had informed Belmarsh’s visiting office only a week earlier who would be visiting and had confirmed the date and time, and Roy had a visiting order to prove it. However, I can hardly imagine the strange position in which Roy felt at that time. His experiences had previously been as a guest of Her Majesty at one of her institutions rather than as a visitor. What I loved and admired about Roy on this visit, though, was his air of innocence and his total respect for what the prison officers requested of him during the security checks. He was, and is, a true gentleman, and he is someone that I am so proud to say is a real and greatly respected friend. 

			Roy hadn’t seen Ronnie since his 70th birthday party back in 1999, and it was an emotional meeting, particularly under those circumstances. Although it ended with ‘tears at bedtime’ it was a great laugh, especially when Tel and I watched Ronnie (crippled with his walking stick) try to land a right-hander on the infamous Roy Prettyboy Shaw’s mush. It was a hilarious thing to witness and Roy’s response was, “Only Biggsy could ever get away with that. ”

			The ultimate Belmarsh Boy was a Mr Harry Marsden, whom I had heard of his legend went before him but I had never met him. In 2004 Tel Currie telephoned me to ask if I could organise a visit for him, me and Harry Marsden. As with any of Tel’s visiting order requests, I ran it by Ronnie straight away. Tel knew these people really well even if I didn’t, so I knew if he ever asked for permission for someone to visit Ronnie I knew they would be 100% genuine and I was very pleased to be able to get to know them. I always used to say, “Tel, if you and A. N. Other want to visit, I don’t mind ducking out. ” However, his response was always, “Mike, you can read Ronnie’s AZ sheet even if it’s upside down. That’s why you need to be part of the visit. ” I really didn’t mind, of course, although I have to say that on a lot of the Gray Currie Shaw visits and there were plenty of those each year sometimes I would ask Ronnie to spell out the sentence again only for Roy to get it the first time around. Ronnie’s response would be a handshake for Roy and a look that said, “Roy, who are these two fucking young idiots?” (Yes, Tel, Ronnie meant us two!)

			Ronnie had a great Belmarsh pal called Gary, who helped him with all his writing and reading and telephone calls, as well as chasing people up for visit confirmations, so I was relying on him to get the ball rolling on this visit. I only once had the privilege and that’s what it was to shake Gary’s hand as he left the visiting hall in 2002, and as I stood to shake his hand the prison officers shouted, “Sit down! Let-go!” etc. We owe you, Gary, so a huge thank you from me, Tel, Roy and Harry total respect. People don’t realise that without you our visits would’ve taken so much longer to organise. I have always said that, should I ever write about Ronnie Biggs, then you would feature as a very big part of his HMP Belmarsh years. So God bless you, Gary, you’re an absolute diamond see you at Ronnie’s parole party. 

			Anyway, back to Harry Marsden. I soon learnt from a letter I received from Ronnie that Ronnie and Harry had been in ‘the Hate Factory’ together, otherwise known as HMP Wandsworth. Ronnie had a lot of respect for ‘H’, as he called Harry in his letter to me. Harry Marsden was known to be the leader of the Geordie Mafia and ended up serving time for armed robberies, etc. I awaited Gary’s call 24 hours later and gave him Harry Marsden’s details, and a visit for the three of us was arranged for about five weeks’ time. 

			At this time, Tel was gaining a reputation as a very accomplished journalist, as well as being a pal of almost every London underworld character you could think of and organizing boxing events. He had already had one book published calledBouncers(Milo Books, 2003), which he wrote with Julian Davies, and his second, brilliant bookHeroesandVillains:TheGood, TheMad, TheBadandTheUgly(Blake Publishing, 2005), written with Charlie Bronson, was in production. Ronnie actually contributed to Tel’s second book, saying:”Both Tel Currie and Charlie Bronson have given me great support since my return to England in May 2001. As you may or may not know, I have not been in the best of health but am still kept as a Category A prisoner in HMP Belmarsh, Southeast London. I correspond with them both as best I can on a regular basis even though I find it very difficult to write anything. I have read much of the book already and it is shaping up to be the only book of truth on all the Chaps of the Underworld. Love you Tel, Ronnie Biggs. ”

			Great Train Robbery mastermind Bruce Richard Reynolds also said: “Charlie Bronson is a phenomenon in the prison system today, and Tel Currie’s book will be a real eye opener to many people. Good luck, Tel. Respect as always, Bruce Reynolds. ”

			Roy (Prettyboy) Shaw said of Tel Currie: “Both Charlie and Telboy [the nickname Roy calls him] are both close genuine friends of mine. I am not the sort of person who constantly has an entourage around him and I only choose to have a handful of close friends. I see Telboy more than I do Charlie. Tel is a strong and honest man with Old School principles, which commands much respect. He also respects others in return. I have been lucky enough to have read much of this book. Both Telboy and Charlie know what they are on about. It is indeed about The Chaps. Finally the truth. Enjoy. Roy Prettyboy Shaw. ”

			Tel also paid me a very nice compliment by including me in the book, together with a photograph of me and Michael Biggs at Greg Foreman’s boozer for Ronnie’s wedding reception. To find my name among the underworld elite was indeed an honour and something I am very proud of today. Tel wrote:

			“Mike Gray Mike is indispensable and irreplaceable to Sir Ronnie Biggs. Mike is a close personal friend of the legendary Great Train Robber and is the figurehead of the campaign to release him (The Free Ronnie Biggs Campaign). When Ronnie decided to return to England in May 2001, Mike was alerted before the UK press/media, and Mike was also present at Ronnie’s wedding in HMP Belmarsh in July 2002, an honour indeed as only ten guests were allowed to attend. 

			“People like Mike work tirelessly for their friends without fanfare and with little credit. In this world of sycophants, hangerson, fame whores and reflected glory seekers, their type is very rare and very special and that’s why people like Mike deserve a mention in this book, not just the main faces. Mike and Michael Biggs (Ronnie’s son) have worked together on a Free Ronnie Biggs record and Mike is one of Ronnie’s very few regular visitors. Let’s hope the work, determination and loyalty of people like Mike Gray pay off and the government finds the heart to release Sir Ronnie Biggs. ”

			Anyway, I digress, so back to the Gray-Currie-Marsden visit to Belmarsh to see Ronnie. I awaited the arrival of Tel and Harry in Belmarsh Visitors’ Centre, where we had to check in. I was very surprised to see how healthy Harry looked after what Tel had told me about Harry fighting a losing battle with cancer, and Harry hadn’t sounded very ill on the telephone when I called him only weeks earlier. But here he was the man who told me that it was his dying wish to see face-to-face his old pal from Wandsworth Prison, Ronald Arthur Biggs. On meeting, Ronnie and Harry exchanged the complimentary, “You look fucking well, you old bastard!” Tel and I sat in awe of these two true crime legends as they talked about the old days in Wandsworth Prison in the ‘60s and the nicknames of some of the characters they knew and those they no longer wished to know. This was my first meeting with Harry Marsden and sadly it was to be my last. After the visit to Belmarsh, he wrote to thank me for organising it and that was the end of my contact with him. It was a sad day when Tel informed me that Harry had passed away in December 2007. 

			Another very sad passing in 2007 was Joey Pyle Senior, who died of natural causes. Joey was a total legend and an absolute diamond. He was always there to help and support us when we (the Free Ronnie Biggs campaign) needed him to help Ronnie and Michael Biggs with regard to setting up charity nights to raise money for the appeals, etc. Joe’s funeral was held at Rose Hill, Surrey, only a mile or so from his home in Lower Morden Lane. Living close to Joe, I used to see him on a regular basis. Over 1,000 people attended the funeral service in February 2007 at St Theresa’s Church. I had arranged to meet Michael Biggs at Morden Underground Station that day, as we were both representing the Biggs family, and while I was waiting for him to arrive, all kitted out in my black suit and Crombie, I soon found myself surrounded by a lot of people in the same attire. I met Howard Marks and pals among the many mourners, and everyone gathered at Joe’s house before walking the short distance to the church behind the funeral procession.

			

			Thursday1stMarch2007

			AFINALFAREWELLTOJOEYPYLESENIOR

			Dave Courtney along with 3,000 others flocked to Morden in Surrey to say goodbye to the legend Joey Pyle Snr yesterday. 

			Braving high winds, heavy rain and hailstones, over 300 walking mourners got off of 3 52-seater coaches and a fleet of minibuses to make the 1 mile journey on foot behind the procession that was made up off several members of the Outlaw Motorcycle Club on pristine bikes at the head, followed by 4 beautiful black horses dressed in full regalia drawing a large and ornate glass-sided Victorian carriage which contained the coffin. Next came 2 flower carrying funeral cars decorated in a large Caesar’s medallion and the words ”MY PAL JOEY” spelt out in flowers as well as many others. Behind those were 19 black official funeral cars, 2 privately rented limos and 157 private cars. Friends and family sent so many floral tributes they had to be delivered to the church on a 32-foot artic trailer. 

			The church was packed to overflowing, so much so that the doors couldn’t be closed and hordes stood on the steps, squeezed together with their heads cocked towards the open door to listen. By the time of the second service at the cemetery, over 3,000 people filled the graveyard and 76 cars were parked bumper to bumper all the way up the drive and over 100 other cars filled the surrounding streets. After a short service, all mourners braved the rain and strong winds to trudge across the wet grass to the graveside to say their final goodbyes to the legend that will always be Joey Pyle. 

			Dave would like to personally thank all of his boys who were our security on the day and the 300people who came from Camelot for the sad 5-hour event. (Courtesy of Dave Courtney’s website)

			

			Michael and I chatted to Bruce and Nick Reynolds outside the church, and once inside I sat next to Gary Mason (one of our greatest heavyweight boxers) at the back of the packed building. After the service I spoke to Kenny Lynch on the way out of the church, Jimmy White mixed with mourners, and Michael and I also chatted to Jamie Foreman and ex-CoronationStreetstar Chris Quentin. It was a fantastic, respectful send-off for Joe, who never said no to our requests for help with the campaign. We’re so grateful for everything he did for Ronnie and Michael Biggs. 

			Any future charity gatherings, underworld get-togethers, boxing functions, etc., will never be the same again without Joe there. Ronnie was very upset when he heard about Joe’s passing. In Liam Galvin’s gangster video, BiggsNightOut2, Joe and the Chaps are all interviewed about Ronnie. I was interviewed outside The Park Tavern in Norwood, along with pub guv’nor Charlie Breaker, about Ronnie’s treatment in Belmarsh, and it also features Tony Lambrianou, Cass Pennant, Tel Currie, Roy Shaw, Dave Courtney, Bruce Reynolds and pals. It’s a great video/DVD. Even today (2008), I am still in regular email contact with Charlie Breaker, someone I was introduced to in 2001 by Tel Currie and Nick Reynolds. Charlie always supported our Biggsy charity nights at his pub and is a very respected man in the underworld. Charlie has been there, seen it and done it loads of times. So respect him. Thanks again, Charlie, for all your support. 

			Throughout 2003 until 2007 when Ronnie was transferred to HMP Norwich, Tel Currie, Roy Shaw and I were Ronnie’s most regular visitors, aside from Michael and family, which earned us the Biggsy nickname of The Three Stooges. The last visit we made together was in late 2006 and Ronnie told us that it was rumoured that he would be leaving Belmarsh in early 2007. Ronnie had been told similar stories before over the years, raising his hopes and then dashing them again, but this time Ronnie was very excited by the news given to him by his lawyer Giovanni di Stefano, and I had a feeling from him that maybe a move in 2007 could at last come to fruition as a result of Giovanni’s hard work and efforts towards getting Ronnie transferred. 

			My last visit to see Ronnie in Belmarsh was with German Frank Werner in the spring of 2007. By this time Ronnie had been told officially by Miss Smith (new Home Secretary) that he would be transferred in the very near future, but to where no one knew, not even Ronnie. However, wherever it was, the Belmarsh Boys would follow. 
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